RECEIVED

Sep 13 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Danniel Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001311

Ina Shtukar,

Appellant,

v.

Erie Insurance Group,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

September 13, 2024



Ina Shtukar "Steinberg" Esquire
SC Bar No.105916
1687 Saybrook Court
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(704)-309-0992
ina@blackandwhiteimmigrationlaw.org
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err when it considered Defendant's lack of service objection and found that Plaintiff "never served" the Summons and Complaint, concluding that Plaintiff's action was time-barred, where the record shows that Defendant failed to properly plead either insufficient service, insufficient process, or statute of limitation in its first responsive filing to preserve its defenses, waiving them instead pursuant to Rule 12(h)?
- II. Did the trial court err when it found that "Plaintiff never served the Summons or the Filed Summons and Complaint," where the record shows that Defendant was served by certified mail, and that Defendant acknowledged it without raising an objection, and because a mere misnomer did not invalidate Plaintiff's statutory service on the DOI?
- III. Did the trial court err when it found that Plaintiff failed to commence the action in accordance with Rule 3, SCRCF, because Plaintiff's service of the Amended Complaint was sufficient to commence the action, even if Plaintiff never served the original Complaint?
- IV. Did the trial court err when it determined that Plaintiff's action was time barred in light of the relation-back provision under Rule 15(c)?
- V. Did the trial court also err when it determined that Plaintiff's causes of action were time barred, to the extent Plaintiff's Complaint sets forth well-pleaded factual allegations that show that the violation of Plaintiff's rights is ongoing and Defendant's malfeasance is recurrent in nature, which operates to restart the statute of limitations every time Defendant renews Plaintiff's policy under a third-party's name without Plaintiff's consent?
- VI. Did the trial court err when it denied Plaintiff's motion for entry of default, because Defendant's one-sentence motion unsupported by a brief was insufficient as a matter of law to assert any Rule 12(b) defense and amounted to a mere "placeholder," designed to circumvent Rule 12(a) deadline, and if allowed, this practice would render Rule 12(a) deadline meaningless?
- VII. Did the trial court err when it denied Plaintiff's motion for entry of default, because the record shows that Defendant defaulted in response to both the original and amended Complaint, and the trial court's reasoning for denying entry of default rested on an error of law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The record before the Court shows that Plaintiff filed a Complaint on February 7, 2023, asserting bad faith and unfair or deceptive trade practices as Plaintiff's main causes of action. The original Complaint identified Defendant as "Erie Insurance Group." Plaintiff's Complaint

contained factual allegations, which, taken as true, show that Defendant engaged in unauthorized business of insurance by renewing Plaintiff's policy and adjusting a claim under Plaintiff's name after she moved to South Carolina. *See* Complaint, *generally*. The record also shows that Plaintiff served Defendant by certified mail and pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-9-285, which allows a resident of South Carolina to serve an unauthorized insurer through the South Carolina Department of Insurance ("DOI"). The DOI accepted service of process effective February 10, 2023. Defendant's attorneys filed a notice of appearance on February 16, 2023, before Plaintiff filed her proof of service. Plaintiff also served the Summons and Complaint by certified mail on February 27, 2023, which was acknowledged by defense counsel. *See* Rule 59(e) Motion Ex 1, 2. On March 2, 2023, Plaintiff filed a Certificate of Service and an Affidavit of Compliance with S.C. Code § 15-9-285(c), supported by a return receipt and DOI's Acceptance of Service, which identified Defendant as "Erie Insurance Exchange *et al.*" Defendant did not move to strike or otherwise object to Plaintiff's Certificate of Service or Affidavit of Compliance. The record also shows that Plaintiff agreed to defense counsel's request for an extension of time until April 28, 2023 to respond to the Complaint, and that defense counsel was aware that 60 days from the date of service on the DOI expired on April 11, 2023. *See* D's May 17, 2023 Memo Ex 1. On April 28, 2023, 77 days after the DOI accepted service on Defendant's behalf, Defendant filed a one-sentence Motion to Dismiss unsupported by a brief, which cited Rule 12(b)(2) and 12(b)(6) and stated that "[t]his motion will be supported by Defendant's forthcoming brief." *See* D's MTD.

On May 15, 2023, Plaintiff filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and moved for Entry of Default, arguing that Defendant's Motion was untimely because Rule 6(b), SCRCP, did not allow the parties to agree to a 77-day extension and because Defendant's one-sentence Motion unsupported by a brief was a mere placeholder designed to

circumvent Rule 12(a) deadline, and that it did not comply with Rule 7(b), SCRC, particularity requirement. Plaintiff also argued that Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction was baseless because Defendant engaged in unauthorized business of insurance, as defined by S.C. Code § 15-9-285, and the Court acquired personal jurisdiction because the DOI accepted service on Defendant's behalf, in accordance with S.C. Code § 15-9-280 and S.C. Code § 15-9-285. In addition, Plaintiff argued that the Court had jurisdiction pursuant to S.C. Code § 36-2-803, South Carolina long-arm statute, and that Defendant waived its personal jurisdiction defense by making a voluntary appearance. Lastly, Plaintiff argued that Defendant's motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim also failed because Defendant was in default. On May 17, 2023, Defendant opposed Plaintiff's request for entry of default arguing that "the DOI had no authority to accept service for Defendant," and that Defendant's motion was sufficient because Defendant did "what most attorneys in this state do (i.e. wait and file a brief once the motion is set for hearing by the Clerk)" and because its motion "[told] the Plaintiff all she needs to know: the Court lacks personal jurisdiction, and Plaintiff has failed to state facts sufficient to state a cause (or causes) of action against [Defendant]." *See* D's May 17 Memo. Defendant, however, still did not file a brief in support of its one-sentence Motion to Dismiss. On May 31, 2023, Plaintiff moved for entry of default and default judgment, arguing that Defendant suffered a default because Plaintiff had no authority to consent to a 77-day extension, merely citing Rule 12(b)(2) and (6) was insufficient to put the Court and Plaintiff on notice of Defendant's arguments, specifically its argument that the DOI had no authority to accept service, and that Defendant waived any objection to improper service. Defendant did not oppose¹ Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Default and Default Judgment and did not address Plaintiff's waiver argument in any of its subsequent filings, conceding the

¹ The trial court should have entered a default and its failure to do so led to numerous other errors. In the course of the litigation Plaintiff has maintained that Defendant was in default.

argument. The case was subsequently docketed for a hearing² on November 14, 2023. On November 11, 2023, 275 days after the DOI accepted service of process and three (3) days (two of which were Saturday and Sunday) before the hearing, Defendant filed a brief in support of its Motion to Dismiss filed pursuant to SCRCP 12(b)(2) and (6), arguing that a misnomer of Defendant's name deprived the Court of personal jurisdiction and that Defendant lacked "minimum contacts" to the state of South Carolina. Defendant's 12(b)(6) argument was limited to Plaintiff's request for an injunction. On November 20, 2023, the Court continued the Motions.

On January 5, 2024, Plaintiff filed an Amended Summons and Complaint, which named Defendant "Erie Insurance Exchange, aka Erie Insurance Group, Erie Insurance Company, and Erie Insurance" and converted Plaintiff's request for injunctive relief to a common law injunction. The amended pleading was based on the same factual allegations as the original one and did not add any new factual allegations. The Amended Complaint was supported by 13 Exhibits, which showed *inter alia* that Defendant used three (3) different names (Erie Insurance Group, Erie Insurance Company, and Erie Insurance) and that a search with the Secretary of State revealed that Defendant had seven (7) different registered names, including a trade name "Erie Insurance Group." Plaintiff's exhibits also provided documentary evidence that Defendant renewed Plaintiff's policy and began adjusting a claim under Plaintiff's name after she moved to South Carolina and with knowledge of Plaintiff's relocation. On February 5, 2024, 31 days after it was e-served with Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, Defendant filed a motion seeking an extension of time to respond to the Amended Complaint arguing that "[g]iven the extensive nature of the Plaintiff's allegations, additional time is required to investigate these claims internally." *See* D's Motion to Extend Time. Later that same day, however, Defendant filed a "Motion to Dismiss for

² While the case was docketed for a hearing, the motions were continued.

Lack of Personal Jurisdiction and Answer,” which rendered its motion moot.

On June 5, 2024, the court held a status conference, docketing the case for trial over Plaintiff’s objection due to Plaintiff’s pending Motion for Entry of Default. Plaintiff subsequently contacted the clerk and the unresolved motions were ultimately set for a hearing on July 31, 2024. At the time of the hearing, Defendant introduced a document that was not part of the record, comprised of Defendant’s internal cover letter, which bore Defendant’s name “Erie Insurance³,” the DOI’s Acceptance of Service, and a copy of Summons and Complaint, which named Defendant “Erie Insurance Exchange,” as opposed to “Erie Insurance Group.” *See* Exhibit C to Pl’s Rule 59(e) Motion. Other than Defendant’s name, the Summons and Complaint were identical to those filed with the Court. This document was not properly authenticated, no foundation was laid, and defense counsel did not explain how she came in possession of this document. The record before the Court contains no evidence that shows that this was the Summons and Complaint Plaintiff served on the DOI. Based on this internal document, Defendant argued that because Plaintiff allegedly served the DOI with a “sham complaint,” she failed to properly commence this action in accordance with SCRCP 3, as the statute of limitations had already expired. Plaintiff responded that Defendant’s argument was not properly pleaded, to the extent Defendant’s filings asserted only lack of personal jurisdiction and failure to state a claim, and that Defendant waived its improper service defense, according to SCRCP 12(h). Plaintiff argued that Defendant suffered a default because the parties lacked authority to agree to a 77-day extension and that Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss was invalid as it was filed while Defendant was technically in default, because entry of default is a ministerial task. In response, Defendant argued that Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint made both pending motions moot. That same day, Plaintiff also filed a supplemental

³ Notably, even Defendant’s internal documents do not use Defendant’s *proper* name and instead use another fictitious trade name – “Erie Insurance.”

brief, citing Rule 12(h), SCRCP, and authority that stands for the proposition that filings made by a defendant while in default are invalid.

On August 1, 2024, Plaintiff filed a second supplemental brief arguing that Defendant's misnomer had no legal significance because Defendant could not have been and was not misled, relying on binding authority. On August 2, 2024, Defendant filed a brief, arguing that both Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Default and its Motion to Dismiss were moot because Plaintiff amended her Complaint and Defendant filed an answer. Defendant also argued that Plaintiff failed to commence the action because her service on the DOI was improper, despite admitting that Defendant filed an Answer responding to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint. No supporting authority⁴ was cited in support of Defendant's Rule 3 argument, filed 1.5 years after this action was commenced. Lastly, Defendant argued that Plaintiff's Motion should be denied because it "reasonably relied in good faith on" Plaintiff's extension, falsely asserting that "[Defendant] first became aware of Plaintiff's Complaint on February 28, 2023," even though defense counsel entered their appearances on February 16, 2023. On August 3, 2024, Plaintiff filed a reply brief to address Defendant's SCRCP 3 contentions, arguing that Defendant's own filings show that Plaintiff properly commenced her action because she served Defendant by certified mail in addition to serving the DOI, which Defendant never disputed in any way. Plaintiff also noted that the DOI Acceptance of Service added "*et al*" after Defendant's name, which signified that it was aware that the original Complaint used a collective name to identify Defendant, and argued that because Plaintiff's original Complaint used a fictitious name, which "collectively referred to all other Erie Insurance entities, no amendment to the original Complaint was even necessary, and various Erie Insurance names could be used interchangeably without any impact on the Court's

⁴ The record shows that Defendant consistently made farfetched arguments unsupported by any authority.

jurisdiction.” Lastly, Plaintiff argued that Rule SCRCP 6(b) precludes Defendant’s reliance on Plaintiff’s consent to a 77-day extension, that its filing of a one-sentence Motion to Dismiss was insufficient to avoid a default, and that its negligence in calculating its deadline cannot constitute good cause to set aside Defendant’s default, citing binding authority.

On August 6⁵, 2024, the Court issued a Form 4 Order granting Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Entry of Default, despite the fact that at the time of the hearing, the Court stated that Amended Complaint “is not going to be dismissed.” *See* Form 4 Order; T 8, ¶ 1-5. On August 13, 2024, Plaintiff filed a Motion for a New Trial or Hearing⁶, bringing to the trial court’s attention that in addition to suffering a default in response to Plaintiff’s original Complaint, Defendant once again defaulted in response to Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint, to the extent Rule 15(a) SCRCP required Defendant to respond within 14 days, and Defendant filed its Answer on day 31 after being e-served with Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint. Defendant did not oppose this motion. On August 14, 2024, Defendant e-filed⁷ its proposed order, without serving it on Plaintiff, as required by Rule 5(b)(3), SCRCP. On August 16, 2024, 10 days after it issued a Form 4 Order, the Court filed a Memorandum of Decision, which recited immaterial factual allegations from Plaintiff’s original Complaint, instead of articulating the trial court’s findings of fact, and summarily found that the action was not properly commenced because “Plaintiff never served the Summons or the Filed Summons and Complaint,” without citing any evidence or legal authority. The trial court concluded that all of Plaintiff’s causes of action were time barred, even though it expressly noted that the trial court continued the motions “to give the Plaintiff time to amend her original complaint.” Lastly, the Court opined that “[d]efault judgment

⁵ The case was docketed for jury trial on August 5, 2024, which made the trial court’s unexpected ruling seem even more odd, both procedurally and substantively.

⁶ The trial court never ruled on this motion.

⁷ When a proposed order is e-filed, the other side cannot view it; only the trial court can.

cannot be granted on a claim that was never properly served or commenced under Rule 3(a), and this court finds no basis for changing the law to allow this to occur.” *See* Decision. On August 18, 2024, Plaintiff filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, Motion⁸ asking the trial court to reconsider its ruling arguing that the court erred when it found that (1) Plaintiff “never served” the Summons and Complaint and concluded that Plaintiff’s action was time-barred, because Defendant failed to properly plead either insufficient service, insufficient process, or statute of limitation to preserve these defenses, waiving them instead pursuant to Rule 12(h), (2) “Plaintiff never served the Summons or the Filed Summons and Complaint” to the extent Defendant was served by certified mail and a mere misnomer did not invalidate Plaintiff’s service on the DOI, (3) Plaintiff failed to commence the action in accordance with Rule 3, SCRCP, because automatic service of the Amended Complaint was sufficient to commence the action, even if Plaintiff never served the original Complaint, (4) Plaintiff’s action was time barred, because Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint relates back to the time of the original filing pursuant to Rule 15(c), (5) Plaintiff’s causes of action to be time barred, to the extent the violation of Plaintiff’s rights was ongoing and Defendant’s malfeasance was recurrent in nature, and (6) entry of default was not warranted, because Defendant defaulted in response to both the original and Amended Complaint. Even though Defendant did not oppose Plaintiff’s Motion, the Court denied Plaintiff’s Motion, on August 29, 2024, via Form 4 Order without explaining its reasoning.

⁸ Rule 59(e) motion “shall be served not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order.” *Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, 423 S.C. 253, 255-256 (2018). The law is unclear whether the undersigned had another 10 days to file a rule 59(e) motion after the court filed its Memorandum of Decision elaborating on its reasoning, however, procedural fairness weighs in favor of affording the appellant 10 days from the date a decision is filed, if the trial court first files a Form 4 order without explaining its reasoning, and to hold otherwise would deprive a litigant of an opportunity to preserve the issues raised for the first time in the final decision, especially if the trial court’s decision is filed on the last day of the 10-day period afforded by the rules for the filing a Rule 59(e) motion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW⁹

As a general rule, the standard for appellate review of the trial court's findings of fact is whether there is any evidence that reasonably supports the trial court's findings. *See Townes Assoc. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976); *Unisun Ins. Co. v. First S. Ins. Co.*, 319 S.C. 419, 423 (1995). Questions of law, on the other hand, are subject to *de novo* review, and the appellate court may decide such questions without any deference to the trial court. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Boulware*, 422 S.C. 1, 6, 809 S.E.2d 223, 226 (2018). However, our courts have recognized that when only one reasonable inference can be deduced from the evidence, the question becomes one of law for the court. *Small v. Pioneer Mach.*, 329 S.C. 448, 461 (Ct. App. 1997). Moreover, “[t]he question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case. The decision of the trial court should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law.” *Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co.*, 363 S.C. 485, 491, 611 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2005) (internal citation omitted)). In addition, “[t]he trial court's findings of fact regarding validity of service of process are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.” *Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 294-95, 721 S.E.2d 430, 432 (2012). “[A]n abuse of discretion as a decision based on an error of law, or, when grounded in factual conclusions, a decision without evidentiary support.” *State v. Robinson*, 410 S.C. 519, 526 (2014) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *State v. Wright*, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011)). Lastly, a 12(b)(6) motion is usually used to seek the dismissal of a claim barred by a statute of limitations and the appellate court usually applies the same standard of review as the trial court in applying Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. *See Rydde v.*

⁹ The standard of review of the trial court's dismissal under Rule 3, SCRPC, is unclear, and the issue is further complicated here by the fact that the Court granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, which only raised lack of personal jurisdiction and failure to state a claim, waiving lack of service of process defense which is at the heart of the Rule 3, SCRPC commencement issue.

Morris, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009) (“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) SCRCP, an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the [circuit] court.”).

ARGUMENTS

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