RECEIVED

Jan 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No.: 23-CP-4600392
Appellate Case No. 2024-001311

Ina Shtukar,

Appellant,

v.

Erie Insurance Group,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Natasha M. Durkee, Esq. (S.C. Bar No.: 105581)
Elizabeth A. Martineau, Esq. (S.C. Bar No.: 78732)
MARTINEAU KING PLLC
P.O. Box 12151
Rock Hill, SC 29731
Telephone: (704) 980-0721
ndurkee@martineauking.com
emartineau@martineauking.com
Attorneys for Respondent

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

On March 2, 2023, Appellant filed an Affidavit of Compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-285 and a Certificate of Service, attesting, incorrectly, that a copy of the Initial Complaint and Summons had been served upon the named defendant, Erie Insurance Group, Inc., through the South Carolina Department of Insurance and via Certified Mail. *See* Appellant’s Affidavit of Compliance pp. 1-2 (R. pp. 350-352) and Certificate of Service p. 1 (R. pp. 348-349). On March 2, 2023, Appellant also agreed to Respondent’s request for a continuance of time to respond to the Initial Complaint, through and including April 28, 2023. *See* Appellant’s Final Brief p. 2; *see also* Exhibit “A” to Respondent’s May 17, 2023, Brief in Opposition to Appellant’s Brief in Opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss and Request for Entry of Default (R. pp. 219-222).

On April 28, 2023, Respondent filed a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, pursuant to Rules 12(b)(2) and 12(b)(6) of the SCRCPP. *See* Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss (R. p. 119). In compliance with Rule 7 of the SCRCPP, Respondent’s motion was made in writing, stated with particularity the grounds for the motion to dismiss (i.e. lack of personal jurisdiction and failure to state a claim), and stated

the relief/order sought (i.e. “an order dismissing Plaintiff’s complaint with prejudice”). *Id.*; *see also* Rule 7 of the SCRCP.

On May 15, 2023, Appellant filed a memorandum titled, “Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Untimely Motion to Dismiss and Plaintiff’s Motion for Entry of Default” (“Plaintiff’s May 15, 2023 Memorandum”)⁴. (R. pp. 158-167). In Plaintiff’s May 15, 2023 Memorandum, Appellant argued that Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss was untimely, because Plaintiff claimed that SCRCP Rule 6(b) prevented her from granting an extension through April 28, 2023, as it would have allegedly extended Respondent’s time to respond to the Initial Complaint by 77 days, and not 60 days. *See* Plaintiff’s May 15, 2023 Memorandum pp. 2-5 (R. pp. 159-162). Importantly, Appellant’s argument was premised upon service of the Sham Complaint and Summons, which was served upon Erie Insurance Exchange, an entity that was not yet named as a defendant in the lawsuit, through the South Carolina Department of Insurance on February 10, 2023. *Id.* p. 2 (R. p. 159).

Moreover, in Plaintiff’s May 15, 2023 Memorandum, Appellant further argued that Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss failed to comply with Rule 12(a), and cited to cases referring to appellate briefs or briefs that are required to be filed in federal court in support of her position.⁵ *Id.* p. 4 (R. p. 161). Plaintiff’s May 15, 2023 Memorandum then moves to the merits of Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss, and asserts that (1) Respondent consented to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina by allegedly engaging in the unauthorized business of insurance; (2)

⁴ This document did not contain a Motion for Entry of Default or Default Judgment. Appellant did not actually file a formal Motion for Entry of Default or Default Judgment until May 31, 2023.

⁵ The portions that are referenced within Plaintiff’s May 15, 2023, Memorandum are purposely tailored to support Appellant’s baseless argument, and fail to candidly represent the nature of the courts, respective, rulings in said matters. (e.g. Appellant cites to *See In re Marriage of Grounds*, 256 Mont. 397, 398, 846 P.2d 1034, 1035 (1993) and represents that in this case the moving party failed to file a brief in support of its motion and, as such, the court held the motion was without merit. However, in *See In re Marriage of Grounds*, the Court actually held that the district court *did not* have to dismiss the motion simply because a brief had not been submitted. *Id.* Regardless, this case discusses a very specific local rule from a Montana state court. *See Id.*)

Respondent was subject to South Carolina's long-arm statute; and that (3) Respondent waived personal jurisdiction by making an appearance in the case, through counsel, and engaging in settlement negotiations. *Id.*

On May 17, 2023, in response to Plaintiff's May 15, 2023 Memorandum, Respondent filed "Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Default and in the Alternative Motion for Enlargement of Time Per Rule 6(b)(2), SCRCPP" ("Defendant's May 17, 2023 Memorandum"). *See* Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Default and in the Alternative Motion for Enlargement of Time Per Rule 6(b)(2), SCRCPP (R. pp. 168-173). Contrary to Appellant's representations to this Court, Defendant's May 17, 2023 Memorandum, referred to the issues it had identified as it relates to the documents that had been served upon Respondent by the South Carolina Department of Insurance. *Id.* Specifically, Defendant's May 17, 2023 Memorandum, stated that "the DOI's correspondence is addressed to "Erie Insurance Exchange" and incorrectly lists the case name in the body of the letter as "Ina Shtukar v. Erie Insurance Exchange, et al." *Id.* p. 3 (R. p. 170). Respondent also clarified that "Erie Insurance Group, Inc." was not a legal entity, and unequivocally stated the following:

To the extent Plaintiff uses "Erie Insurance Group, Inc." and "Erie Insurance Group" and "Erie Insurance Company" interchangeably, they are not the same. This does not satisfy Rule 4(b), SCRCPP. For example, the caption on the Summons lists "Erie Insurance Group." The caption of the Complaint lists "Erie Insurance Group, Inc." Paragraph 2 of the Complaint (page 2) lists "Erie Insurance Company." Paragraph 10 of the Complaint lists "Erie Insurance." Paragraph 14 uses the term "Erie." If Plaintiff is suing Erie Insurance Company, then the Complaint must be dismissed for insufficiency of process because the Summons does not name Erie Insurance Company. Rule 12(b)(4), SCRCPP. If Plaintiff is suing "Erie Insurance Group" or "Erie Insurance Group, Inc." then the Complaint must be dismissed for failure to state a claim because the Complaint is void of any reference to those purported entities. Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP.

Id. Defendant's May 17, 2023 Memorandum further clarified that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-285 did not apply to the case at hand, as "the subject policy of insurance at issue was not '[issued] and

[delivered]’ in South Carolina,” and that said policy was “a North Carolina policy that was issued to Plaintiff while she was a resident of North Carolina.” *Id.* p. 3 (R. p. 170). Regardless in the alternative, Defendant’s May 17, 2023 Memorandum requested an enlargement of time to respond to the Initial Complaint, per Rule 6(b)(2), SCRCF. *Id.* p. 6 (R. p. 173).

On May 31, 2024, Appellant filed a Motion for Entry of Default and Default Judgment (“Plaintiff’s Motion for Default”). (R. pp. 120-122). This motion simply restated, in an abbreviated form, the arguments that were raised in Plaintiff’s May 15, 2023 Memorandum. *See* Plaintiff’s Motion for Default (R. pp. 120-122). Respondent did not submit an additional memorandum in opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Default, as Respondent’s Defendant’s May 17, 2023 Memorandum already included Respondent’s arguments in opposition to Plaintiff’s request to enter Respondent into default. *See* Defendant’s May 17, 2023 Memorandum (R. pp. 168-173).

A hearing on all of the pending motions before the court was originally scheduled to take place on November 14, 2023. On November 10, 2023, although under no obligation to do so, Respondent filed a document styled, “Defendant’s Brief [sic] in Support of Its Motion to Dismiss” (“Defendant’s Nov. 10, 2023 Memorandum”). *See* Defendant’s Nov. 10, 2023 Memorandum (R. pp. 174-178). Defendant’s Nov. 13, 2023 Memorandum again clarified that the wrong entity, Erie Insurance Group, Inc., had been named in the Initial Complaint. *Id.* pp. 1-2 (R. pp. 174-175). Moreover, Respondent argued that, even if the proper entity – Erie Insurance Exchange, which is the entity that issued the Subject Policy – had been named, the Court would still lack personal jurisdiction over Respondent because Respondent does not do business in South Carolina, and the Subject Policy was issued in North Carolina. *Id.* pp. 2-3 (R. pp. 175-176).

On November 14, 2023, during the hearing on the pending motions, undersigned counsel and then counsel for Respondent agreed to continue both pending motions. On November 20,

2023, the underlying Court issued an order continuing both pending motions. *See* Form 4 issued November 20, 2023 (R. pp. 1-3). After that hearing, Counsel for both parties discussed the filing of an amended complaint in which Appellant would name the proper entity, Erie Insurance Exchange, as the named defendant, and undersigned counsel agreed to accept service of the Amended Complaint on behalf of Respondent.

On January 5, 2024, Appellant filed her Amended Complaint, which changed the name of the Defendant to “Erie Insurance Exchange, aka Erie Insurance Group, Erie Insurance Company, and Erie Insurance.” *See* Amended Complaint (R. pp. 32-67). Although not previously discussed or agreed upon by the parties, the Amended Complaint also added causes of actions against the named defendant for (1) Conversion; (2) Wrongful Appropriation of Identity; and (3) Declaratory Judgment; and converted Appellant’s original request for Injunctive Relief under S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-50 into a request for common law injunction. *Id.* An Acceptance of Service was never filed. Nevertheless, Respondent upheld to its agreement to accept service on behalf of Erie Insurance Exchange, and filed a Motion to Dismiss and an Answer in response to the Amended Complaint on Monday, February 5, 2024.⁶ *See* Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss For Lack of Personal Jurisdiction and Answer (R. pp. 68-99). Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss and Answer included the argument that the Amended Complaint should be dismissed due to the Court’s lack of personal jurisdiction over Respondent.⁷ *Id.*

⁶ In an abundance of caution, on the same day that Respondent filed its Motion to Dismiss and Answer to Appellant’s Amended Complaint, Respondent filed a motion for extension of time to respond to the Amended Complaint, which was granted by the Court on February 6, 2024.

⁷ Appellant attempts to make the argument that Respondent was late in responding to the Amended Complaint as Respondent did not file a response until February 5, 2024 – which is thirty-one (31) days after the Amended Complaint was filed. However, Appellant fails to explain that thirty (30) days after the Amended Complaint was filed would have been Sunday, February 4, 2024. As such, the next business day was in fact Monday, February 5, 2024. Moreover, as further explained below, the Amended Complaint is the only complaint in this action that could have “commenced” this action pursuant to Rule 3 of the SCRCPP, as the Initial Complaint was never served upon Respondent. Further, as a new entity was named as a defendant, Respondent would have had 30 days to respond to the Amended Complaint.

On June 5, 2024, the underlying court held a status conference, where both parties consented to a December trial date despite the pending motions.⁸ The motions were later set to be heard on June 24, 2024, but then continued to July 31, 2024, due to Appellant's then attorney's unrelated personal matter.

On June 14, 2024, Appellant filed her first "Supplemental Brief in Support of Motion [sic] for Entry of Default" ("Plaintiff's June 14, 2024 Memorandum"). (R. pp. 179-186). Plaintiff's June 14, 2024 Memorandum simply reiterated the arguments she made in Plaintiff's May 15, 2023 Memorandum. *Id.* On June 24, 2024, Appellant filed a "Notice of Termination" explaining that she had terminated her attorney and was electing to proceed *pro-se*.

On July 31, 2024, a hearing on Appellant's Motion for Entry of Default and Default Judgment and Respondent's Motion to Dismiss were heard before Honorable Judge Daniel D. Hall. (R. pp. 100-118). During this hearing, Respondent pointed out the discrepancy between the named Defendant in the Initial Complaint versus the Sham Complaint and Summons that were actually served upon the South Carolina Department of Insurance. *See* July 31, 2024, Hearing Transcript pp. 5-7 (R. pp. 104-106). In response, Appellant objected to Respondent's argument, and argued that the issue had not been "preserved" as it had not been "properly raised" in Respondent's prior filings, and relied upon Rule 6(d) of the SCRCF in support of her position. *Id.* pp. 7, 14-23 (R. p. 106, lines 14-23).

In support of Appellant's Motion for Entry of Default and Default Judgment, Appellant once again argued that Respondent had not timely responded to the Initial Complaint, as Appellant claimed that, despite her written agreement allowing Respondent through and including April 28,

⁸ Appellant misleads this Court in her Final Brief when she claims to have objected to the December trial date at the hearing. At no point during that hearing did Appellant object to the December trial date, in fact a transcript of that hearing would reveal that Plaintiff consented, on the record and in open court, to the December trial date.

2023, to respond to the Initial Complaint, she was unable to grant said extension pursuant to Rule 12 of the SCRCF. *Id.* pp. 9-10 (R. pp. 108-109). Moreover, Appellant argued that the Amended Complaint did not negate Respondent's default, if any. *Id.* p. 11 (R. p. 110).

Respondent argued that Appellant had the burden to show that she had in fact served Respondent, or any entity, with the Initial Complaint in compliance with Rule 3(a). *Id.* p. 12 (R. p. 111). Respondent further argued that, even if Respondent had been served in compliance with SCRCF, the Court would still not have personal jurisdiction over Respondent because S.C. Code § 15-9-285 did not apply to Respondent as the Subject Policy was issued in North Carolina, for a vehicle and insured that was garaged/resided in North Carolina. *Id.* p. 15 (R. p. 114). Moreover, based upon the plain language of the Subject Policy, Respondent argued that the Subject Policy extinguished as soon as Appellant had secured a South Carolina auto policy of insurance. *Id.* Finally, Respondent noted that, due to Appellant's failure to commence the action in accordance with Rule 3(a) of the SCRCF, Appellant's claims were now time barred by the applicable statutes of limitations. *Id.* p. 16 (R. p. 115).

On August 1, 2024, in accordance with the Court's direction, Respondent filed a copy of the Sham Complaint and Summons that it received from the South Carolina Department of Insurance. *Id.* p. 18 (R. p. 117).

On July 31, 2024 and August 1, 2024, although not requested, Appellant filed additional briefs in support of Appellant's Motion for Entry of Default and Default Judgment. Of note, in Appellant's August 1, 2024, Brief, Appellant conceded that the documents that were served upon Respondent, in an effort to commence the action pursuant to Rule 3 of the SCRCF, were the Sham Complaint and Affidavit, and not the Initial Complaint or Summons. *See* Plaintiff's August 1, 2024, Second Supplemental Brief in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Default (R. pp.

195-201). Yet, both supplemental briefs failed to address the Appellant's failure to commence the action pursuant to Rule 3(a), SCRCP.

In an effort to clarify any confusion created by Appellant in her supplemental briefs, Respondent filed its own Supplemental Brief on August 2, 2024 - Defendant's Supplemental Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Dismiss and in Opposition to Plaintiffs [sic] Motion for Entry of Default" ("Defendant's August 2, 2024 Memorandum"). In Defendant's August 2, 2024 Memorandum, Respondent reiterated the four arguments it made at the July 31 hearing that: (1) the pending motions before the trial court were moot in light of the Amended Complaint; (2) Appellant failed to properly commence the action against Respondent in accordance with Rule 3(a) of the SCRCP; (3) because Appellant had failed to commence the action, the statute of limitations for her claims had now passed, barring her claims; and (4) that Appellant's request for a default and/or resulting default judgment should be denied or in the alternative set aside for good cause shown in light of Appellant's agreement of extension of time through and including April 28, 2024, for Respondent to respond to the Initial Complaint. *See* Defendant's August 2, 2024 Memorandum (R. pp. 202-210).

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